ISSUES PRESENTED

When conducting a search authorized by an automobile passenger’s
parole condition, can the police search those areas of the passenger

compartment that reasonably appear subject to the parolee’s access?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was driving while under the influence of
methamphetamine and opiates. His friend, a parolee, was seated in the |
front passenger seat. A woman and her three-year old child were seated in
the back‘seat. During a consensual encounter, a police officer inquired
whether anyone in the vehicle was on probation or parole and the front seat
- passenger admitted to being on parole. '_Fhe officer then conducted a search
of the passénger compartment of appellant’s car based on the passenger’s
parole search condition. She discovered methamphetamine in a shoe and a
hypodermic needle in a bag of chips located in the back seat area of the car.
Appellant moved to suppress these items and the motion was denied.
Appellant then pled gﬁilty to driving under the influence, being under the
influence, possession of a hypodermic needle, and child endangerment.

Appellant appealed the denial of his suppression motion and the
Court of Appeal agreed, finding the search of appéllant’s car violated the

Fourth Amendment. The court reasoned that a front seat passenger’s parole



status could not authorize a parole search of the back seat area of a car. The
Court of Appeal’s decision was erroneous and must be reversed.

When conducting a search authorized by an automobile passenger’s
parole condition, police may search areas of the passenger compartment
that reasonably appear accessible to the parolee. The United States
Supreme Court has held that a parole search satisfies the Fourth
Amendment if it is reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.
Reasonableness is assessed by weighing the privacy expectations of the
individuals involved against the state’s interest in performing the search.
Because appeliant was in a vehicle on a public street énd was sharing his
vehicle’s passenger compartment with a parolee subject to a suspicionless
search condition, he was subject to a reduced expectation of privacy in the
areas of the vehicle within the parolee’s joint access or control.

- The state has an overwhelming interest in conducting suspicionless
searches of parolees to ensure the parolee’s‘successﬁal reintroductiqn into
s-ociety and to protect the public. If those portions of the vehicle accessible
to the parolee were excluded from a parole search, the parolee could end-
run his search condition. The parolee could simply élacc his contraband or
weapons in a nonparolee’s car, within ;his reach and subject to his use,
without fear of the property being discovered in a parole search, thereby
-frustrating the state’s ability to :;",upervise parolees and protect the public

from those released from prison early. Balancing the third party’s



" diminished privacy expectations with society’s vital interests in regulating
parolees, a search of the property subject to the parolee’s access or control
is reasonable. In this case, the back seat area of appellant’s car was subject
to the parolee front seat passenger’s access or control. Therefore, the back
seat areca was prdperly included within the parole search.

| Rather than consider the totality of the circumstances, the Court of
Appeal’s decision below crafted a bright-line rule in which only the seat
occupied by the parolee is subject to search. The Court of Appeal’s rule
marks a significant break wi.th this Court’s prior decisions in the context of
parole searches of shared residences. Officers aware of the parolee’s joint
occupancy may search any aréa of the hofne that is subject to the parolee’s
joint access or control. The Court of Appeal refused to consider which
areas of appellant’s car constituted common or shared space, instead
limiting the search to the actual seat used by the parolee and no further.
This rule grants far more constitutional protection to a car than a home,

_directly cbntradicting the weight of constitutional authority holding the
home is subject to the greatest Fourth Amendment protection.

The Court of Appeal’s bright-line rule, untethered to the factual
circumstances of thé case, also leads to absurd results. The court’s rule
fails to acknowledge that a passenger can use more of a vehicle than the
seat he or she is actually occupying and fails to acknowledge that a

passenger can own, possess, or use items located in someone else’s car.



Finally, the Court of Appeal’s decision places dispositive weight on
whether appellant’s passenger was legally entitled to consent to the search
of appellant’s car. But the search at issue in this case was not a consent
search. Although parole searches have a basis in consent, a parole search is
constitutionally distinct from a consent search. Unlike a consent search, a
parole search’s reasonableness must be assessed with consideration of the
reduced expectations of pn'\'/acy held by parolees, and those who choose to
live or ride with parolees, and society’s vital interests in regulating parolees
by way of the suspicionless search. A simple application of consent
principles, employed by the Court of Appeal bélow, fails to appropriately

assess the constitutionality of the parole search‘employed in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 7, 2007, the Orange County District Attorney’s Office filed
an information charging appellant with possession of a controlled substance
(count 1; Health & Saf. Code, § 11356, subd. (a)), driving under the
influence (count 2; Veh. Code, § 23152, subd. (a)), being under the |
influence of heroin and metﬁamphetamine (count 3; Health & Saf. Co’de,

§ 11550, subd. (a)), possession of a hypodermic needle (count 4; Bus. &

Prof. Code, § 4140), and child endangerment (count 5; Pen. Code,' § 273a,

! All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless
otherwise indicated.



subd. (b)). (CT 29-30.) The information also alleged that appellant had
previously been convicted of driving under the influence (Veh. Code,

§ 23540) and attempted robbery, a serious and violent felony (§ 667, subds.
(d), (e)(1)). (CT 30-31.)

On December 3, 2007, the People dismissed count 1 pursuant to
section 1100. (CT 39.) On March 4, 2008, appellant filed a motion to
suppress evi‘dence»pursuant to section 1538.5, claiming both the stop and
search of his vehicle violated the Fourth Amendment. (CT 43.) The
heaﬁng was held on May 21 and June 23, 2008. At the conclusion of the
hearing, the trial court denied appellant’s motion. (CT 62, 66.)

On July 8, 2008, appellant pled guilty to four rnisdemeénors:
driving under the influence, being under the inﬂuence, possession of a
hypodermic needle, _and child endangerment. Appellant admitted his prior
conviction for driving under the influence. The trial court sentenced
appellant to 90 days in jail and 3 years’ informal prbbation. (CT 80-81.)

Appéllaht appealed, contending his vehicle was stopped without
reasonable suspicion and the search exceeded the proper scope of a parole
search. On August 18, 2010, the Court of Appeai for the Fourth Appellate
District, Division Three, issued a published decision rever.sing the
judgment. The Court of Appeal held that appellant’s initial encounter with
the officer was consensual and did not irﬁplicate the Fourth Amendment.

(Slip opn. at pp. 6-7.) However, the court concluded that the search of the



passenger compartment of appellant’s vehicle was unconstitutional. The
.court found that appellant’s front seat passenger’s parole condition did not
authorize the officer to search the back seat area of the car. (Slip opn. at pp.
7-12.)

Respondent petitioned this Court for review. On December 1, 2010,

this Court granted the petition.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS?

- Appellant was driving an older model Oldsmobile or Buick in Aliso
Vigjo, Orange County, around 7:00 p.m. on November 24, 2006. There
were three other occupants in the vehicle. The front seat passenger,
Quentin Gordon, was appellant’s friend of two or three years. Gordon was
on parole. Gordon’s 'girlfriehd, Brenda Turner, and her three-year old son
were seated in the back seat. (Supp. CT 8-9; Supp. RT 15, 33-35, 43, 45.)

Deputy Mihaela Mihai observed appelIant turn off a larger street
ontd a smaller street and then make a U-turn. She followed him, without

activating her lights or initiating a traffic stop. After appellant made a U-

2 The Statement of the Facts is derived from the section 1538.5
hearing held on May 21 and June 23, 2008. The arresting deputy’s
testimony began on May 21. There was no court reporter present and no
tape recording of the testimony exists. A settled statement of the record
regarding her testimony was filed before the Court of Appeal. (Supp. CT
8-11; RT 1-10.) Appellant presented multiple witnesses at the section
1538.5 hearing regarding whether the officer blocked his car during the

“encounter. These facts are omitted because the trial court’s ruling that the
encounter was consensual is not before this Court.



turn, his car was stopped parallel to Deputy Mihai’s car, facing in the
opposite direction. Deputy Mihai’s car was stoppea in such a way that it
did not obstruct the movement of appellant’s car. (Supp. CT 8-9; Supp. RT
3,6.)

Deputy Mihai asked if appellant was lost or needed help. (Supp. CT
8-9; Supp. RT 39.) Appellant said that he was not lost and had driven into
the condominium complex to make a U-turn because he could not do so on
the main street. Deputy Mihai got out of her car and approached
appellant’s car. She asked where he was from and if he needed directions.
Appellant replied that he was from Long Beach and did not need directions.
Deputy Mihai asked if appellant minded showing her his driver’s license.
As he was retrieving the license, Deputy Mihai, who had expertise and
training regardiﬂg s"[reet narcotics, observed that appellant’s arms were
covered in abscesses consistent with drug use. Deputy Mihai then asked
- appellant if he was on probation or parole. He said “no.” She then asked if
the other occupants of the car were on probation or parole. Gordon
| admitted that he was on parole and that he had no identification. Deputy
Mihai asked appella.nt for permission to search the car and he did not
respond. (Supp. CT 9; Supp. RT 39-41.) After she discovered that the
passenger was on parole, Deputy Mihai advised dispatch of her location

and requested another officer come to the scene. (Supp. RT 9.)



Deputy Mihai then conducted a search of the car based on the
passenger’s parole status. She found a woman’s black purse containing a
syringe cap in the back seat. She also found a bag of chips containing two
syringes (one without a cap) and a pair of shoes containing
methamphetamine in the back seat. (Supp. CT 9-10.) Deputy Mihai
arrested appellént. (Supp. CT 9.) At the time, appellant was under the

influence of methamphetamines and opiates. (CT 71.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEARCH OF THE AREAS OF THE VEHICLE’S PASSENGER
COMPARTMENT THAT WERE ACCESSIBLE TO THE PAROLEE
PASSENGER WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE FOURTH
AMENDMENT

This Court must determine the reasonableness of a parole search
under the totality of the circumstances, balancing the privacy interests of
individuals with the state’s interest in the search. In this case, appellant
was subject to reduced privacy expectations because he was in a vehicle on
a public street and was sharing the vehicle’s interior with a parole.e subject
to a suspicionless search condition. Balancing this reduced privacy interest
with the state’s compelling need to regulate those released from prison
early, a search of the areas of the vehicle accesé_ible to the parolee was
‘ reasonablé. The Court of Appéal failed to conduct this totality of the

circumstances balancing test. Instead, the court erroneously created a



bright-line rule based on which seat the parolee occupied and focused on a

passenger’s legal right to consent to the search of another’s car.

A. Standard of Review

When reviewing the denial of a suppression motion, the reviewing
court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court’s
ruling and adopts all express and implied factual findings that are supported
by substantial evidence, but independently determines whether the
challenged search or seizure was constitutionally reasonable as a matter of
law. (People v. Hughes (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 327; People v. Glaser
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 354, 362.) “[T]he power to judge the credibility éf the
witnesses, resolve any conflicts in the testimony, weigh the evidence and
draw factual inferences, is vested in the trial court.” (People v.

Munoz (2008) 167 Cal.Ap§.4th 126, 132, quoting People v. Lawler (1973)
9 Cal.3d 156, 1»60.) If factual findings are unclear, the reviewing court
must iﬁfer “a ﬁnding of fact favorable to the prevailing party on each
ground or theory underlying thé motion.” (People v. Middleton (2005) 131

Cal.App.4th 732, 737.)

B.  General Principals Regarding the Fourth Amendment

Pursuant to California Constitution, article I, section 28, subdivision
(d), issues relating to the suppression of evidence derived from police

searches and seizures must be reviewed under federal constitutional



standards. (People v. Ayala (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 254-255; People v.
Bradford (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1229, 1291.) The Fourth Amendment to the
United States Constitution guarantees “tt]he right of the people to be secure
in their persons, houses, papers.and effects, against unreasonable searches
and seizures” and provides that “no warrants shall issue, but upon probable
cause, subported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the
place to be searched, and the persons or things tb be seized.” (U.S. Cohst.,
Amend. IV.)

“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”
(United States v. Knights (2001) 534 U.S. 112, 118-119 [122 S.Ct. 587, 151
L.Ed.2d 497] (Knights).) The court determines the reasonableness of a
search “by assessing, on the one hand, the degree to which it intrudes upon
an individual’s privacy and, on the other, the degree to which it is needed
for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests.” (/bid., quoting
Wyoming v. Houghton (1999) 526 U.S. 295, 300 [119 S.Ct. 1297, 143
L.Ed.2d 408]; accord Illinois v. McArthur (2001) 531 U.S. 326,331 [121
S.Ct..'946, 148 L.Ed.2d 838] [“we balance the privacy-related and law
enforcerhent-related concerns to deterrﬁine if the intrusion was
reasonable”].)

An individual has a constitutionally protecteci privacy interest where
“he or ‘she has manifested a subjective expectation of privacy in the object

of the challenged search that society is willing to recognize as reasonable.”

10



(California v. Ciraolo (1986) 476 U.S. 207, 211 [106 S.Ct. 1809, 90
L.Ed.2d 210]; In re Tyrell J. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 68, 83, overruled on other
grounds in In re Jamie P. (2006) 40 Cal.4th 128, 139.) The Constitution
recognizes a hierarchy of privacy interests. (People v. Reyes (1998) 19
Cal.4th 743, 751 (Reyes).) “Reasonable expectations of privacy that
society is prepared to recognize as legitimate receive the greatest level df
protection; diminished expectations of privacy are more easily invaded; and
subjective expectations of privacy that society is not prepared to recognize

as legitimate have no protection.” (Ibid.)

1. The Parole Search Exception

A warrantless search must be justified under a recognized exception
to the warrant requirement. (In re Tyrell J., supra, 8 Cal.4th at p.79.) A
search pursuant to a valid parolé search condition constitutes such an
exception. (Knights, supra, 534 U.S. at pp. 117-118, 121-122; Griffin v.
Wisconsin (1987) 483 U.S. 868, 875 [107 S.Ct. 3164, 97 L.Ed.2d 709];
People v. Smith (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1354, 1360.)

In California, parolees may be subjected to a warrantless,
suspicionless search by any member of law enforcement. The notice of
parole in California dictates, “You and your residence and any property
under youf coﬁtrol may be searched without a warrant at any time by any

agent of the Department of Corrections or any law enforcement officer.”

11



(15 Cal. Admin. Code, § 2511, subd. (b)(4).) Furthermore, before being
paroled, a California inmate must agree in writing “to be subject to search
or seizure by a parole officer or other peace officer at any time of the day or

night, with or without a search warrant and with or without cause.”

(§ 3067, subd. (a).)

In Reyes, this Cqurt held that the practice of conduéting warrantless,
suspicionless searches of parolees is constitutional under the Fourth
Amendment. (Reyes, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 752.) Such a search is
reaéonable under the Fourth Amendment provided it is not “arbitrary,
capricious or harassing.” (/bid.) This Court reached the conclusion that a
properly conducted parole search does not intrude on any expectation of

293

priyacy “society is ‘prepared to recognize as legitimate’” by weighing the
privacy interests of the parolee with society’s interest in coﬁducting parole
searches without any form of particularized suspicion. (/d. atp. 754.) “As
a convicted felon still subject to the Department of Corrections, a parolee
has conditional freedom-granted for the_speciﬂc purpose of monitoring his
transition from inmate to free citizen.” (Id. at p. 752.) The parole'é haé a
greatly reduced expectation of privacy because he “is on notice that his
activities are being routinely and closely monitored.” (/d. at p. 753.)

Additionally, his parole status has been triggered by his own conduct, the

crime which resulted in conviction, sentence, and ultimately parole.

12



(Reyes, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 752.) In contrast to the parolee’s extremely
diminished expectation of privacy, the state has a strong interest in
conducting random searches of those released from prison early. “The state
has a duty not only to assess the efficacy of its rehabilitative efforts but to
protect the public, and the importance of the latter interest justifies the
imposition of a warrantless search condition.” (Ibid.)

In the years following Reyes, this Court has concluded that an
officer’s subjective reasons for undertaking a parole or probation-search are
irrelevant. (People v. Woods (1999) 21 Cal.4th 668, 680-681 (Woods).)
However, an officer must be aware of the parole or probation condition
prior to conducting the search. (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 789,
800 (Robles);, People v. Sanders (2603) 31 Cal.4th 318, 330 (Sanders); In
re Jaime P., supra, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 138-139.)

In Knights, the United States Supreme Court upheld California’s
practice of allowing warrantless probation searches of a probationer’s home
bX any member of law enforcement without involvement of the probation
officer and for general- criminal investigation. After c*amining the totality
of the circumstances, “with the probation search condition being a salieﬁt
circumstance,” the Coﬁn found a warrantless search of a probationer’s
residence by a police officer éonstitutional. (Knights, supra, 534 U.S. at p.

119.)

13



The Knights Court noted that probationers have a “significantly
diminished . . . reasonable expectation of privacy” and “do not enjoy ‘the
absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled.”” (Knights, supra, 534
U.S. at pp. 119-120.) Society, on the other hand, has significant interests in
performing probation searches, including “probation-rehabilitation and
protecting society from future criminal violations.” (/d. atp. 119.) The
Court looked to the high recidivism rate of probationers and noted “‘the
very assumption of the institution of probation’ is that the probationer ‘is
more likely than the ordinary citizen to violate the law.”” (/d. at p. 120.)
Probationers also have more incentive to conceal their criminal activities
and dispose of incriminating evidence. (/bid.) The state’s strong interest in
“apprehending violators of the criminal law, thereby protecting potential
victimé of criminal enterprise, may therefore justifiably focus on
probationers in a way that it does not on the ordinary citizen.” (/d. at
p. 121.) Because the search before the Court in Knights was supported by

‘reasonable suspicion, however, the Court declined to reach the issue of
whether a suspicionless probation search comports with the Fourth
Amendment. (/d. atp. 120, fn. 6.)

In Samson v. California (2006) 547 U.S. 843 [126 S.Ct. 2193, 165
L.Ed.2d 250] (Samson), the Court reached that unresolved quesfion and
affirmatively held that a parole search may be cqnducted without any fomi

of particularized suspicion. In Samson, an officer performed a search of a
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known parolee’s person without any suspicion of wrongdoing. (Samson,
supra, 547 U.S. at pp. 846-847.) The Court conducted the same totality of
the circumstances balancing test that had been employed in Knights. (Id. at
p. 848.) The Court found parolees have “severely diminished expectations
of privacy by virtue of their status alone.” (/d. at p. 852.) In fact, parolees
have even fewer expectations of privacy than probationers “because parole
is more akin to imprisonment than probation is to imprisonment.” (/d. at

p. 850.) “[A]n inmate-turned-parolee remains in the legal custody of the

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