IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORN) IA,)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
	,)	Case No. S186707
vs.)	
)	
DOUGLAS GEORGE SCHMITZ,)	
Defendant and Appellant.)	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)	

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G040641 Orange County Superior Court No. 06HF2342 The Honorable John S. Adams, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT **FILED**

JUN 13 2011

Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

WILLIAM D. FARBER

Attorney at Law State Bar No. 45121 369-B Third Street # 164 San Rafael, CA 94901

Telephone: (415) 472-7279

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant Schmitz

TOPICAL

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. When conducting a search authorized by an automobile passenger's parole condition, can the police search those areas of the passenger compartment that reasonably appear subject to the parolee's access?

STATEMENT OF THE PROCEEDINGS

By information filed on May 7, 2007, in the Superior Court of California,
Orange County, appellant was charged with possession of a controlled substance in
violation of Health and Safety Code section 11350, subdivision (a) (count 1),
misdemeanor driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs with one prior driving

under the influence conviction in violation of Vehicle Code section 23152, subdivision (a) (count 2), misdemeanor under the influence of a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11550, subdivision (a) (count 3), misdemeanor unauthorized possession of a hypodermic needle or syringe in violation of Business and Professions Code section 4140 (count 4), and misdemeanor child abuse in violation of Penal Code section 273a, subdivision (b) (count 5). The information alleged one prior conviction in violation of Vehicle Code section 23152, subdivision (a), and one prior serious or violent felony conviction pursuant to Penal Code sections 667, subdivisions (d) and (e)(1), and 1170.12, subdivisions (b) and (c)(1). (1 CT 29-31.)

On December 3, 2007, on the People's motion, the trial court dismissed count 1, leaving only four alleged misdemeanors that were later renumbered counts 1 through 4. (1 CT 39.)

Appellant moved to suppress evidence on March 4, 2008, pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5. (1 CT 43-46.) The trial court denied appellant's suppression motion on June 23, 2008. (1 CT 66; 1 RT 63-64.)¹

On July 8, 2008, on the People's motion, count 4 of the information was amended to read misdemeanor "child endangerment." (1 CT 79.) Appellant pled guilty to counts 1 through 4 and admitted one prior misdemeanor conviction for

¹/ The first portion of the Penal Code section 1538.5 suppression hearing was not transcribed. On appeal and at appellant's request, a settled statement of the missing record was subsequently prepared and filed. (1 Supp CT 8-12.)

violation of Vehicle Code section 23152, subdivision (a). (1 CT 80.)

On July 8, 2008, the trial court suspended imposition of sentence on all counts and placed appellant on informal probation for three years under various terms and conditions. (1 CT 77-82.)

On appeal, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, in an opinion filed August 18, 2010, per Bedsworth, Acting Presiding Judge, with O'Leary and Moore, Associate Justices, concurring, reversed the judgment, ruled that the search of appellant's car violated the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings. The Court of Appeal's opinion was certified for publication.

Respondent's petition for review was granted by the Court on December 1, 2010.

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL AND EVIDENTIARY FACTS

Appellant waived a preliminary hearing. (1 CT 24-26.) Consequently, an evidentiary record does not exist on which to base a detailed factual summary. The facts of this case have been set forth, generally, in the Court of Appeal's opinion. (See Slip Opinion at pp. 2-4.) Additional evidence admitted during the suppression hearing and set forth in the settled statement is outlined as follows.

Orange County Deputy Sheriff Mihaela Mihai testified that she was on patrol on November 24, 2006. At approximately 7:00 p.m. on that date, Mihai observed an older model Oldsmobile or Buick driving and then making a u-turn. Deputy Mihai approached the vehicle in her patrol car and stopped parallel to it. Mihai observed three adult passengers, including appellant who was identified as the owner and driver; Brenda Lynn Turner who was seated in the backseat (next to her child in a car seat); and Quentin Cary Gordon who was seated in the front passenger seat next to appellant. Deputy Mihai asked appellant if he was lost. Appellant told Mihai that he was not lost and that he had driven into the apartment complex to make a u-turn because he could not make a u-turn on the main street. (1 CT 8-9.)

Deputy Mihai asked appellant if he needed directions. Appellant said, "No." Mihai asked appellant if he minded showing her his driver's license. As he was getting the license, Mihai observed that appellant's arms were covered with abscesses which were indicative to her of possible drug use. (1 CT 9.)

After observing the abscesses, Deputy Mihai asked appellant if he was on

probation or parole. He replied, "No." She asked if anyone else in the car was on parole and learned that front seat passenger Gordon was on parole and that he had no identification. Mihai asked appellant for permission to search his vehicle. Appellant did not answer. Thereafter, Mihai ordered appellant and the other two occupants out of the car. While appellant and the other occupants were seated on a street curb under the watch of other officers who by then had arrived on scene, Deputy Mihai conducted a search of the entire vehicle, including the trunk and entire passenger compartment, based on front seat passenger Gordon's parole status. The search of the passenger compartment included a black, female purse belonging to Ms. Turner, in which Mihai found a syringe cap; a bag of chips in which Mihai found 2 syringes, one with no cap; and a pair of shoes in which Mihai found some methamphetamine. All of these items were located in the back seat or floor of the rear passenger area next to Ms. Turner. Appellant was arrested based on Deputy Mihai's observations, and the evidence she found in the back seat. (1 CT 9.)

During the suppression hearing, Deputy Mihai stressed that the incident did not commence as a traffic stop. (1 RT 3.) She acknowledged that before learning of the passenger's parole status, she had not observed any violation of law. (1 RT 9-10.)

Appellant testified that, after he pulled into the condominium complex in order to turn his car around, Deputy Mihai approached in her car and asked him whether he needed any help. After appellant said, "No," Deputy Mihai yelled for

him to stop. (1 RT 28.) After appellant stopped, Mihai got out of her patrol car, approached appellant, and asked him for his identification. (1 R 28, 32.) She also asked him if he was on probation or parole. Appellant said that he was not. (1 RT 30-32.) After Mihai looked at appellant's identification, she did not return it but asked him to get out of his car. (1 RT 30.) Mihai then asked appellant's passengers if they were on parole or probation. (1 RT 31.)

Turner testified that immediately after Deputy Mihai asked appellant if he needed help and requested his identification, she asked him and front passenger Gordon whether they were on probation or parole. Deputy Mihai was still in her patrol car when she asked about parole status. (1 RT 39-41.)

Passenger Gordon testified that after Deputy Mihai asked appellant whether he needed help and for his identification, she asked about his probation or parole status. (1 RT 54.) When appellant responded that he was not on probation or parole, the officer asked Gordon and Ms. Turner whether they were on probation or parole. (1 RT 54-55.)

In respect to witness credibility, the court stated at the conclusion of the suppression hearing, "I think there is a close-call here. There is [sic] issues that have been illuminated by the People's witness as well as by defense witnesses, but I am struck by the similarity in the testimony, the consistency of the testimony, in particular of both of the women who testified, as well as the defendant himself." (1 RT 61.)

THE SEARCH OF APPELLANT'S PASSENGER COMPARTMENT AND TRUNK COULD NOT BE JUSTIFIED ON THE GROUND THAT THE FRONT SEAT PASSENGER WAS SUBJECT TO A PAROLE SEARCH, WHERE APPELLANT RETAINED A REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN HIS PASSENGER COMPARTMENT AND TRUNK, AND WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE PASSENGER HAD JOINT CONTROL OR COMMON AUTHORITY OVER ANY PORTION OF THE AUTOMOBILE BEYOND THE AREA OF HIS IMMEDIATE ACCESS AND CONTROL

A. Introduction

Appellant was the owner and driver of an automobile in which he had three occupants. Quentin Gordon was the front seat passenger. Brenda Turner and her child were back seat passengers. Mr. Gordon was on parole. There was no evidence that appellant knew or should have known of Mr. Gordon's parole status.

In the rear passenger area, next to Ms. Turner on the seat or floor were a female purse, shoes, and a chips bag. The officer conducted an overly expansive search of the entire passenger area of the car, including the inside of Turner's purse, the shoes, chips bag, and the trunk of appellant's car. Appellant did not consent to the search.

The search was conducted after the patrol officer learned of the front seat passenger Gordon's parole status. The officer found a syringe cap inside Ms.

Turner's purse, two syringes inside the chips bag, and some methamphetamine inside one of the shoes. The issue before this Court involves whether the parole status of a vehicle passenger may justify an exhaustive and extensive search of the

entire passenger compartment and trunk of the vehicle. The answer to this question is found in the Fourth Amendment and its jurisprudence: The owner-driver of a vehicle retains an expectation of privacy in those areas of his vehicle not immediately accessible to or controlled by the passenger-parolee. Absent evidence, facts, or indicia that the passenger-parolee had joint control or common authority over the vehicle beyond the area of his immediate access and control, exterior compartments (e.g., trunk and engine compartment), interior compartments (e.g., glove compartment), or items and closed containers beyond the parolee's immediate access and control (e.g., a woman's purse, shoes, and closed chips bag in the back seat) are protected by the Fourth Amendment and not subject to search or inspection under the guise of a parole search.

B. Standard of Review

Federal constitutional standards govern review of a claim that evidence is inadmissible because it was obtained during an unlawful search. (Cal. Const., art. I, section 28, subd. (d); *People v. Willis* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 22, 29.) Thus, any challenge to the admissibility of a search or seizure must be evaluated solely under the Fourth Amendment. (*People v. McPeters* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1148, 1171; *In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 979; see also *California v. Greenwood* (1987) 486 U.S. 35, 38 [108 S.Ct. 1625, 100 L.Ed.2d 30].)

An illegal search or seizure violates the federal constitutional rights only of those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded [space] or the

seized thing. (*United States v. Salvucci* (1980) 448 U.S. 83, 91-92 [100 S.Ct. 2547, 65 L.Ed.2d 619].) The legitimate expectation of privacy must exist in the particular area searched or thing seized in order to bring a Fourth Amendment challenge. (*People v. McPeters, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 1171.) The burden is on the defendant to establish that a legitimate expectation of privacy was violated by government conduct. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky* (1980) 448 U.S. 98, 104 [100 S.Ct. 2556, 65 L.Ed.2d 633]; *Kimmelman v. Morrison* (1986) 477 U.S. 365, 374 [106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305] [gravamen of a Fourth Amendment claim is that the complainant's legitimate expectation of privacy has been violated by an illegal search or seizure; in order to prevail, a complainant need prove only that the search or seizure was illegal and that it violated his reasonable expectation of privacy in the item or place at issue].)

In reviewing a trial ruling on a motion to suppress, the appellate court defers to the trial court's factual findings, express or implied, when supported by substantial evidence. (*People v. Hoyos* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 872, 891; *People v. Ayala* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 255; *People v. James* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 99, 107.) The power to judge credibility, weigh evidence, and draw factual inferences is vested in the trial court. (*People v. James, supra*, 19 Cal.3d at p. 107.) However, in determining whether, on the facts found, the search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, the appellate court exercises its independent judgment de novo. (*People v Hoyos, supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 891; *People v. Ramos* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 494, 505.) Here, the facts relevant to appellant's claimed expectation of privacy

are essentially undisputed. The determination of whether the facts show that appellant had a legitimate expectation of privacy is an issue of law to be reviewed de novo. (*People v. McPeters, supra,* 2 Cal.4th at p. 1172.)

In *Ornelas v. United States* (1996) 517 U.S. 690, 697 [116 S.Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911], the United States Supreme Court held that a trial court's application of the law to the facts in the context of a claimed violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, should be reviewed de novo, even though these legal principles cannot be reduced to simple rules; they involve "fluid concepts that take their substantive content from the particular contexts in which the standards are being assessed." (*Ornelas v. United States, supra*, 517 U.S. at p. 696.) The high court concluded that independent review would clarify the applicable legal principles and provide guidance to law enforcement that would tend to assist officers in making a correct determination in advance as to whether an invasion of privacy is justified. (*Id.* at pp. 697-698.)

C. Respondent's Argument

In the present case, respondent does not contend that Deputy Mihai had reasonable suspicion to detain or arrest appellant before the search. (OBM 28-29.) Neither does respondent contend that Mihai had probable cause to arrest appellant at the time she decided to search his vehicle for contraband or evidence of crime. Respondent does not argue that any exception to the warrant requirement applies. Instead, respondent asserts that appellant lacked an exclusive expectation of

privacy in the entire compartment area of his vehicle merely because a parolee happened to be riding in the front passenger seat. (See OBM 22-24.)

Respondent repeatedly offers that appellant "assumed the risk" of a search "by inviting a parolee to share his vehicle" (OBM 26.) According to respondent, although appellant "maintained normal expectations of privacy in his person and areas of the vehicle he did not share in common with the parolee," nevertheless, by sharing the vehicle with the parolee, appellant subjected himself to a reduced expectation of privacy in the shared areas of the car." (OBM 23-24.) Respondent argues, in effect, that any subjective expectation of privacy appellant may have had immediately before the search was not exclusive -- i.e., one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable, and thus there was no basis to suppress the evidence against appellant under the Fourth Amendment. According to respondent, a parolee's mere presence as a passenger in a vehicle establishes the requisite shared authority or common access to justify an expansive search. (See OBM 21-22.)

D. Fourth Amendment Principles

The Fourth Amendment guarantees individuals the "right . . . to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures . . . " (U.S. Const., 4th Amend.) Under the Fourth Amendment, a warrantless search is unreasonable per se unless it falls within one of the "specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." (*Katz v. United States* (1967) 389 U.S. 347, 357 [88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576].)

Fourth Amendment rights are personal and may be asserted only by someone whose own rights have been violated. As explained in *Alderman v. United States* (1969) 394 U.S. 165, 171-172 [89 S.Ct. 961, 22 L.Ed.2d 176], "[t]he established principle is that suppression of the product of a Fourth Amendment violation can be successfully urged only by those whose rights were violated by the search itself, not by those who are aggrieved solely by the introduction of damaging evidence." (See also *People v. Rivera* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 304, 309, fn. 1 [the capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment depends upon whether the person has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place].)

Warrantless searches may be permitted without probable cause where an officer has legally obtained adequate consent. (See *People v. Woods* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 668, 674, citing *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte* (1973) 412 U.S. 218 [93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854].) "A consensual search may not legally exceed the scope of the consent supporting it. [Citation.] Whether the search remained within the boundaries of the consent is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of circumstances. [Citation.]" (*People v. Crenshaw* (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1408.)

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